In The SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-19

ERIC SIMMONS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Janice C. Orr, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0160581 141 Waterman Avenue Mt. Dora, Florida 32757 (352)735-0266

Counsel for Appellant

II. SUMMARY OF THE CASE

The Appellant was indicted on December 28, 2001(Vol. I, p. 5)¹. The Appellant was charged with two (2) counts: Count I, sexual battery - force likely to cause injury; and Count II, murder in the first degree. That indictment was amended on January 13, 2003 (Vol. I, p. 644). The Appellant was charged with three (3) counts: Count I, kidnapping; Count II, sexual battery - force likely to cause injury; and Count III, murder in the first degree.

A trial was held on September 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19, 2003. The Defendant was found guilty of all counts. Vol. VII, pp. 1202-04. The jury returned an advisory sentence for imposition of the death penalty. Vol. VII, p. 1211. The lower court sentenced the Appellant to death on December 11, 2003. Vol. IX, pp. 1413-32; 1445-48.

Numerous pre-trial and post-trial motions were filed, almost all of which were denied, which will be discussed *infra*.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Deputy John Conley of the Lake County Sheriff's Office ("LCSO") found the body of an unknown victim on December 3, 2001, at about 11:30am, in a wooded area

¹For ease of reference, the record in this proceeding will be designated by volume number and page, *i.e.*, Vol. ___, p, ___, or if to the transcript of the proceedings as Tr. ____.

being patrolled for dumping. Tr. 1924-1927. There were many tire tracks caused by many people going in and out of the area. Tr. 1933. He was unsure when the last time was he had checked the area, but there had been at least one day in between his visits. Tr. 1936.

Crime Scene Technician ("CST") Cushing of the LCSO arrived at the scene at approximately 12:30pm. Tr. 1940. He was assisted by CST Shirley. Tr. 1944. They photographed the scene and casted tire tracks. The tire tracks cast were those with the greatest detail, not those closest to the body. Tr. 1945. A 10-foot square grid was established around the body and the ground dug up and sifted for bullets or weapons. Tr. 1947. Various beer cans, cigarette butts, and miscellaneous items were taken into evidence. Tr. 1948-49. A diagram of the area was prepared by the CSTs. Tr. 1956.

There were tire tracks which went over some of the tire tracks which had been cast. Tr. 1967. The tracks that were casted were those which were of at least 6-feet in length. Tr. 1968. No measurements were taken to determine if any of the tracks casted or photographed could have come from the same vehicle. Tr. 1968-69.

The diagram made of the scene depicts part of a pathway and two of the trees in a wooded area, with no measurements and no indication of where the body was located. Tr. 1969-70. The grid was dug at approximately 4:20pm on the day the body was found, with the body at the center and was dug 12-inches deep, and was done

because it always is by the LCSO, despite the fact that there was no indication that the victim had been shot. All evidence, including tire tracks in the area of the body were destroyed by the digging. Tr. 1974-79. CST Cushing indicated that a vehicle made a three-point turn somewhere near the body but could only point to arching tire tracks on the roadway. Tr. 1981-90. CST Cushing could not testify as to what tracks were made by the same vehicle, what the wheel base of any vehicle was, or anything else except for the existence of the tire tracks. Tr. 1988.

Sheala McBee of the LCSO testified that there were no fingerprints of value found on any of the evidence collected from the area where the body was found. Tr. 1993-94.

CST Bedgood of the LCSO collected larvae from the exterior of the victim's body at the medical examiner's office on December 4, 2001, in addition to other items including the victim's clothing. Tr. 2027-28. This was the first time CST Bedgood had collected larvae and had no training in so doing. Tr. 2033. He put them in the refrigerator until approximately 24 hours later. Tr. 2038. Since working this case, the CSTs were sent for training in collecting insects which taught him to do things differently than he did in this case. Tr. 2040; 3974; 3986. He does not know what time he collected the insects. Tr. 2046.

Lawrence Treadaway, coordinator for the Florida Automated Weather Network ("FAWN"), was called by the State to testify about temperatures across all of Florida between December 1, 2001, and December 4, 2001. Tr. 2051-69. He was not informed of the location where the victim's body was found. Tr. 2070.

Jerry Hogsette, a private consultant, was called by the State. His background is in the area of the life cycle of flies. He has no background in forensic entomology by training and has limited experience in working with others in the 1970s and 80s. Tr. 2083-95. He was qualified by the lower court as an expert in the life cycle of flies. Tr. 2095. Dr. Hogsette concluded that the eggs had to be laid by 10:00am December 2, 2001, to reach the state they were in when he examined them. Tr. 2111; 2117. He opined on the rate of deterioration of the body but had no experience with human subjects. Tr. 2138-39; 2149.

Dr. Sam Gulino is a forensic pathologist who was the medical examiner in the instant case. He went to the scene where the body was found and observed a white female lying in a clearing in a wooded area, with tire tracks and debris around the body. There was blood in the area around her head. She had no shoes and no blood on the soles of her feet. She had apparent blunt force trauma to her right head and face, a cut on her neck, and a stab wound in the lower abdomen. Her hands had cuts and hairs were entangled in her fingers. Tr. 2157-58. The abdominal wound was under the uncut

pants. The body was still exhibiting rigor mortis. Tr. 2158. The period of rigor mortis varies greatly, depending upon the degree of activity before death. Tr. 2160. The body was removed at approximately 3:30pm in a body bag and was taken to the medical examiner's office at which time an approximately one-hour long preliminary review of the body was done before placing it in the cooler until the autopsy was performed which was on December 4, 2001. Tr. 2160-64.

The victim was 69 inches tall and weighed 190 pounds. Tr. 2165. The wounds consisted of ten lacerations of varying sizes and shapes to the scalp, smaller lacerations on her fact, a small, superficial stab wound on the lower lip, extensive bruising to the scalp from blunt impacts, and a large five-and-one-half by three-inch area of comminuted fractures, *i.e.*, fractures which leave the skull broken into small pieces. Tr. 2165-66. It was these fractures and the resultant brain damage which caused the death.

There was also a fracture to the base of the skull which went through the base, causing bruising to brain tissue. This is the result of high energy impact. Tr. 2167. There was a stab wound below the right ear and a small cut on the right side of the neck. There was a long cut across the front and right front of the neck. The neck wounds were caused either after death or after the blow to the head. She had various

post mortem scrapes on her right side. The stab wound in her abdomen was over five inches in depth. Tr. 2167-71.

The victim suffered bruising and lacerations to her anus caused by an unknown object. Tr. 2172. The injuries were not consistent with anal intercourse. Tr. 2173. There was also extensive bruising on her extremities. Tr. 2174. Dr. Gulino described numerous defensive wounds on her arms and hands, including numerous cuts and abrasions, a cut on the palm of both hands and a patterned injury on her right index finger, which appeared to be made by a threaded object. Tr. 2175-77.

The head wound would have caused the victim to be unconscious in a very short time, but the actual time to death could have been minutes thereafter. Tr. 2184. The anal wounds were primarily bruising. Tr. 2185.

Dr. Gulino put her time of death at between 24 to 48 hours from the time the body was observed at the scene. Tr. 2187. The bruising that was "fresh" occurred within 24 hours of her death and a body which is already dead does not bruise. Tr. 2192-93. The bruising was not consistent with being bound, although on the one upper arm there was bruising indicating someone's hand holding the arm. Tr. 2194.

The only injury to her right leg was bruising and a few small scrapes at the knee.

The left knee was bruised and there were scrapes on the left shin. Tr. 2199. Rigor mortis to the extent that limbs would not move, such as the case of the victim at the

scene would occur within six to eight hours, and would remain for up to 36 to 38 hours. Tr. 2200.

Dr. Gulino testified that it was his professional opinion that the site where the body was found was not the place where the killing took place, due to the lack of sufficient blood and because the area around the body was not disrupted. Tr. 2226. The purpose of going to the scene where the body is found is to assist law enforcement. There was no indication that the victim had been shot. Tr. 2227.

Dr. Gulino testified that he would have expected more blood at the scene where the body was found, given the nature of the wounds. Tr. 3903. The absence of the amount of blood which would be expected, combined with the lack of disruption of the ground and the lack of any blood around the body indicated to him that the victim was not murdered where the body was found. Tr. 3913. If the wounds had been inflicted inside the car, a substantial amount of blood would have been found there. Tr. 3917.

Jerry Wetzel, director of electric media at the University Athletic Association for the University of Florida, testified that the Florida/Tennessee football game began on December 1, 2001, at 4:46pm and ended at 7:56pm. Tr. 2238.

CST Jim Binkley of the LCSO went to the laundromat where the victim worked where her purse was found. Tr. 2261. No evidence of any blood or any violence was found there. Tr. 2262-63. The purse was taken into evidence. Tr. 2264.

Sgt. Linda Green of the LCSO placed the items from the victim's purse into evidence which contained a gift list for individuals including the Appellant and his mother, father, and sister. Tr. 2273-77. The room where the purse was found had been locked and the owner of the laundromat had opened the room. Tr. 2279.

CST Ron Shirley of the LCSO testified that he cast three of the five tire tracks indicated to him by CST Cushing. Tr. 2282. Any of the tire tracks could have been cast but he chose three that he believed to be of the best quality. Tr. 2286.

On December 7, 2001, the Ford Taurus belonging to the Appellant was brought to the LCSO and a search warrant was executed. CST Shirley and former CST Caudill examined the vehicle. Tr. 2289. Despite the Appellant's inability to test spots on the door jam of the passenger side of the vehicle, CST Shirley testified that presumptive tests indicated the presence of blood on the passenger door. Tr. 2299. On December 9 and 10, 2001, examination of the car continued. CST Shirley swabbed small spots which appeared to CST Cushing to be blood. Tr. 2306-07. Luminol was sprayed to test for the presence of blood. A positive reaction was received from the carpet fibers

themselves, from the seat cushion and from the back floorboard. Tr. 2313-14. The spots were very small. Tr. 2357.²

The passenger seat cushion was taken into evidence and CST Shirley twice took samples of the foam to send for testing. Tr. 2382. The bulk of the stain on the cushion was on the left-hand side of the cushion as one would be seated in the vehicle. Tr. 2384. Mitochondrial DNA testing was done on the seat cushion.³

Terrell Kingery was a senior crime analyst at the Florida Department of Law Enforcement ("FDLE") at the time of the investigation into the crime at issue in this case. Tr. 2387. He received three of the tires from the Appellant's vehicle and the casts made of tire tracks by LCSO personnel. When he inquired about the fourth tire, he was told that it was determined by the LCSO that eliminated the possibility that the fourth tire had left any of the impressions at the scene. Tr. 2476. He determined that the right front tire of the vehicle could not have left any of the tire tracks identified by

²Shawn Johnson from the serology section of the FDLE was the State's DNA expert who testified concerning testing done on these items. Tr. 2699-2736. Edward Blake of Forensic Sciences in California was the defense expert on these matters. Tr. 4085-4134. Stuart James, an expert in blood spatter analysis, also testified for the defense. Tr. 3361-3467. This testimony will be discussed in argument *infra*.

³Brian Sloan of the Cellmark Laboratory in Dallas, Texas, testified concerning mitochondrial DNA ("mtDNA") matters as the State's expert on this issue. Tr. 2539-95. His testimony was first proferred. Tr. 2517-2533. The Appellant's expert, Dr. Terry Melton of Mytotyping, Inc., in State College, Pennsylvania, testified on this issue. Tr. 4047-85. These portions of the trial will be discussed *infra* in the argument portion of this brief.

the LCSO. Tr. 2445. The left rear and right rear tires could not be eliminated as leaving the tire impressions he was sent. Tr. 2495-81. Millions of tires would fall into that category. Tr. 2509. Mr. Kingery explained the proper method of collecting tire impressions and what was required to be done at the scene. Tr. 2471-75. The age of a tire impression cannot be determined. Tr. 2510.

It was stipulated by the parties that the victim was Deborah Tressler. Tr. 2750-51.

It was stipulated by the parties that the Appellant's vehicle was towed for transmission work on December 4, 2001, and was picked up the afternoon of December 7, 2001. Tr. 2751.

It was stipulated by the parties that the Appellant arrived at his parents' home at approximately 5:30am the morning of December 2, 2001, went to work with his father in Orlando, and returned to his parents' home where he remained until approximately 9:00-9:30pm that day. Tr. 2751.

It was stipulated by the parties that the hairs found in the victim's hands had characteristics consistent with the hairs being hers, although that is not conclusive. The hairs were not from the Appellant. Tr. 2752-53.

Steve Ellis, a friend of the Appellant's and a fireman, testified that Mr. Simmons called him on December 1, 2001, to see about celebrating Mr. Ellis' birthday together

which was on December 2, 2001. Mr. Simmons told Mr. Ellis that he wanted him to meet a woman named Debbie whom he had met at a laundromat. Tr. 2759-61. He spoke with Mr. Simmons again on December 3, 2001, when Mr. Simmons called to see if he had heard why the LCSO helicopters were up which was common since the fire department had had a police scanner. The scanner had been removed and he did not know. Tr. 2763. On December 6, Mr. Ellis again spoke with Mr. Simmons. A deputy had told Mr. Ellis that the body that was found was that of a woman who worked in a laudromat. Mr. Simmons had called because Debbie had been missing and was wondering what Mr. Ellis had heard. Mr. Simmons became very sad at the thought it might be his friend. Tr. 2767-76.

Jose Rodriguez testified that he lived near the laundromat prior to his being incarcerated and had come to know the victim. Tr. 2779. He had seen the Appellant at the laudromat a couple of times. Tr. 2780. He knew the Appellant had a white four-door car with a flag in the right rear window. Tr. 2783-84. He said that he saw Mr. Simmons in the laundromat with Debbie Tressler when he went to the pay phone at 10:30 to 11:00pm on December 1, 2001, and that they were still there when he got off the phone. He does not recall how long he was on the phone. Tr. 2785-91. When he contacted the police to tell them about seeing Mr. Simmons, he was incarcerated and looking for help in being released. Tr. 2794. Mr. Rodriguez had two prior convictions

for battery, one being aggravated battery when he hit a man in the head with a large stick. Tr. 2842-45. A group of pictures was shown to Mr. Rodriguez which did not contain the Appellant's photograph. He picked one which looked like him but he drew in longer hair and a scruffy beard to make it look like the man he had seen with Ms. Tressler, neither one of which Mr. Simmons had. Tr. 2797; 2849. He finally identified Mr. Simmons when Detective Willis of the LCSO took Mr. Simmons' drivers license photograph to the jail. Only a single photograph was shown to Mr. Rodriguez. Tr. 2857-61.

Andrew Montz, 21 years of age at the time of the trial, was a resident of Sorrento. On December 1, 2001, he and his expectant wife went to the Circle K at the intersection of Rtes. 437 and 44 in Lake County. He was checking the tire pressure while his wife went inside. He saw a white, four-door car moving slowly on Rt. 437. When it got to the intersection, a woman opened the passenger door and screamed for help. The driver pulled the woman back in the car and sped off. He could not see the woman's face but she had "light brown to blackish" hair and was wearing white. He could not see the driver. The car never stopped. The car had black and silver trim down the side of the car. Tr. 2879-83. A year later, he reviewed a videotape of a vehicle at the LCSO which he said was the same vehicle because it was white, four-door car, had a flag, and had dents on the passenger door. Tr. 2885. When

questioned as a defense witness, Mr. Montz was shown a photograph of the Appellant's vehicle. He indicated that the vehicle in the photograph did not have the same trim nor the dents. Tr. 3586. The door was opened when the car was at the white stop line and was open for approximately three to five seconds. Tr. 2887-88. The door was halfway open and her feet were planted on the floorboard. Tr. 2889-90. He remembers that the passenger door was quite dented and the car was quite dirty. Tr. 2890. At the time of the incident, Mr. Montz identified the car as a Chevy Corsica. Tr. 2892-94. At the time he stated that the car had spoked wheels. At the time of the incident, he did not mention the flag, although he testified that he mentioned it after the tape was off. Tr. 2895.

Mr. Montz did not call Crime Line on the night of the incident. He called in response to a newspaper article several days later requesting information concerning the body which was found. Tr. 2896-97. He was informed when he went to view the videotape a year later that he was looking at the car of the then defendant, Eric Simmons. Tr. 2898. The Assistant State Attorney on the case, Bill Gross, had been Mr. Montz' boy scout leader. Tr. 2899. The rims on the car in the videotape did not look like the same ones he had seen the night of December 1. Tr. 2900-02.

Sherry Renfro, who was on probation for dealing in stolen property, testified that she was at the Circle K the night of December 1, 2001, taking a friend to use the pay

phone there. Tr. 3251-53. She saw a car slow to stop at the red light at Rtes. 44 and 437. As it did so, the passenger door opened and a woman started screaming for help. She started walking toward the car to see if she could help. She said that she got close enough to see her full face and the door was completely opened. Tr. 3256. She could not see the driver, and could not tell if the driver was a man or a woman. Tr. 3257. As the car pulled away, the woman was pulled back in. She had a hold of the door handle and the door slammed shut. Tr. 3258. The woman was wearing a white T-shirt. Tr. 3258. Ms. Renfro walked back to her van, told her friend that she would be right back and got in her van and went after the car. She did not get close to the car and did not catch it. Tr. 3256-61. At the time, both Ms. Renfro and her friend, Shane Lotito, thought that the car was a Chevy Corsica. Tr. 3261.

Ms. Renfro said that she recognized the picture of Ms. Renfro right away. Tr. 3263. She also claims that she recognized the Appellant's vehicle when she was taken to the Sheriff's office sally port to view it several days later. She claims to remember the flag in the back window and the bumper sticker in the rear window. Tr. 3266.

She remembers that she thought the woman had short brown hair and was medium sized. Tr. 3271. The woman was trying to climb out of the car and had one foot on the ground. Tr. 3272. When the car started, the woman's foot swung back under the car. Tr. 3272. She says she looked at the woman for a minute to a minute

and a half. Tr. 3274. She believes that the driver had dark hair. Tr. 3275. The picture of the woman she was shown had different hair than the woman she observed. The hair was a different color and longer. Tr. 3276. She remembers car being dirty. Tr. 3277. The bumper sticker she says she saw is in the rear window behind the driver's side of the car. Tr. 3280. She did not see the license tag. Tr. 3280.

Ms. Renfro was never asked to do a composite drawing of the woman she saw, was never asked to look at different cars, or anything of the sort. She was shown one picture of the victim to identify and taken to the LCSO to identify the Appellant's vehicle. Tr. 3293. Ms. Renfro was told to be available for further testimony. Tr. 3297. However, when called by the defense to testify, she did not return. Tr. 3566-69.

Detective Willis of the LCSO testified that in 2001 he was in the area around the Circle K a great deal for his line of work. They referred to the area as the "football field" as it was lit up like one. Tr. 3308-12. The spotlight located at the Circle K illuminated vehicles so that when he was conducting surveillance there he could see through the cars to see who the driver and the passenger are. Tr. 3314.

Michael Schroder, an employee of the LCSO for vehicle maintenance, testified that the Appellant's vehicle had not been in an accident. Tr. 2933. However, he could only tell if the car had been in a major accident that resulted in structural damage. Tr. 2937.

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