IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC SIMMONS,

Appellant,

C a s e N o . S C 0 4 - 1

9

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J.

CRIST, JR.

GENERAL

ATTORNEY

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT

Florida Bar

Concourse

ATTORNEY GENERAL

No. 14087

Center 4

Frontage Road, Suite 200

33607

(813) 287-7910

(813) 281-5501

APPELLEE

3507 E.

Tampa, Florida

Telephone:

Facsimile:

COUNSEL FOR

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

In this case, the trial judge clearly acted within its discretion in allowing Mr. Sloan to testify as an expert in forensic DNA typing. In fact, after conducting voir dire on the expert's qualifications, defense counsel did not object to him testifying as an expert in this field. (V22, T:2541-42). Defense counsel raised no objection despite being made aware that Orchid Cellmark had allegedly changed their opinion as to the number of matches.⁶⁶ Thus, as to Appellant's argument that Mr. Sloan was not qualified to testify as an expert, this issue is waived based on a lack of objection to his qualifications.⁴⁶ See Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d 169, 180-81 (Fla. 2003) (finding defendant's argument was not preserved for appeal when he presented a different argument to the trial court), <u>cert. denied</u>, 124 S. Ct. 1662 (2004); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902, 905-06 (Fla. 1990) (stating that claim was not preserved for review where defense failed to object on specific grounds advanced on appeal). Even if not waived, there is no question that Mr. Sloan's qualifications are sufficient to allow him to testify regarding mtDNA analysis. Mr. Sloan had a biology degree, significant on-the-job training, and had

⁴⁵Appellant claims that Orchid Cellmark changed their analysis "three times in three days." The evidence in the record does not support this conclusion. Although the prosecutor noted at one point that unknown individuals at Orchid had re-run the profile through the FBI database and found 140-some-odd matches like the defense expert, Dr. Melton (V21, T:2255-59), there was never any evidence to support this representation. In fact, to the contrary, Mr. Sloan testified that he and Dr. Staub had re-run the information and came to the same conclusion as they had before and were sticking to their conclusion. (V22, T:2583-84). Admittedly, based on the prosecuting attorney's representations to the court, defense counsel may have been under the impression that Orchid had changed their opinion once.
⁴⁶Appellant states that Mr. Sloan was "not qualified" to do the statistics. Initial Brief of Appellant at 45. Once again, the evidence does not support counsel's assertion. Mr. Sloan testified that he ran the information through the FBI database,

but he did not conduct the additional step of performing the ninety-five percent confidence interval. Mr. Sloan testified that he was aware that Dr. Staub had performed these calculations, but he never testified that he was not "qualified" to perform these calculations. (V22, T:2578-80).

completed an 80-hour workshop at the Armed Forces DNA Identification Laboratory. (V22, T:2540).

In addition to challenging Mr. Sloan's qualifications based on the alleged change in Orchid Cellmark's opinion, Appellant also challenges Mr. Sloan's ability to testify that in his professional opinion, the stain he observed was blood and that the mtDNA he obtained came from the stain. Mr. Sloan examined a silver dollar-sized piece of the foam rubber from the seat cushion and testified that in his professional opinion, the stain was blood and the mtDNA was obtained from the stain. Defense counsel cross-examined the witness and elicited testimony that he did not perform any presumptive test to determine whether the stain was blood, and he did not know for certain that the mtDNA came from blood. (V22, T:2569-88).

The State submits that the trial court did not abuse his discretion in allowing Mr. Sloan to testify regarding his professional opinion regarding the nature of the stain and the source of the mtDNA. This testimony was clearly an area within the witness' expertise based on his knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education. <u>See</u> § 90.702, Fla. Stat. (2002). Even if the court erred in allowing this testimony, the error was harmless given the cross-examination of the witness and other evidence introduced at trial. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Defense counsel elicited testimony from Mr. Sloan that the mtDNA could have come from any human biological fluid or material containing cellular material, such as saliva, semen, diarrhea, and menstruation. (V22, T:2574). Certainly, there was no prejudicial error in allowing Mr. Sloan to opine that the stain was blood. The State introduced evidence from other sources that the stain had tested positive for blood, and Appellant's own expert witness testified that there was no question that the stain was a large blood stain that was visible with the naked eye. (V30, T:4117).

In sum, Appellant has failed to show any reversible error in allowing Mr. Sloan to testify regarding his mtDNA analysis of the sample he obtained from the blood stain on the car seat cushion. Appellant's arguments are more properly addressed to the weight of the evidence, not the admissibility. Defense counsel succeeded in eliciting information on cross-examination regarding her concerns with the evidence. Appellant has failed to cite any legal authority supporting his position that the trial court erred in allowing Mr. Sloan's testimony. Accordingly, this Court should deny Appellant's claim that the trial court committed reversible error in allowing Mr. Sloan to testify.

5. The prosecuting attorney did not make improper arguments regarding the mtDNA evidence.

Appellant argues that the prosecuting attorney improperly argued that the degradation of the DNA in the seat cushion was caused by Appellant using cleaning fluids to clean the seat. Counsel argues that this argument was especially prejudicial because the seat cushion was the crux of the State's case. Appellant fails to note any specific argument by the prosecuting attorney and once again fails to cite any applicable caselaw governing this issue.

Presumably, Appellant is asserting that the prosecutor made improper arguments during either his opening or closing arguments regarding the mtDNA. Because Appellant has failed to specifically assert the grounds that he is relying on for this argument and simply vaguely asserts error, this Court should deny the instant claim. Neither counsel for Appellee nor this Court is required to comb the record in search of this alleged error, which is waived for failure to be adequately briefed. <u>See generally Coolen v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 738, 744 n.2 (Fla. 1997) (defendant's failure to fully brief and argue these points constitutes a waiver of these claims); <u>Whitfield</u> <u>v. State</u>, 168 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964) (stating that the appellate court need not examine each word on each page of the appellate record with the hope of finding something to substantiate the argument contained in a party's brief).

Furthermore, although defense counsel made objections during the State's opening and closing argument, none of these objections related to argument concerning mtDNA evidence or to the State's argument that the degradation of the stain was caused by Appellant utilizing cleaning fluids." Because counsel failed to object to the allegedly improper comments, the error is waived unless the comments were fundamental error. <u>See Brooks v.</u> <u>State</u>, 762 So. 2d 879, 898-99 (Fla. 2000) (stating that failing to raise a contemporaneous objection when improper closing argument comments are made waives any claim concerning such comments for appellate review, with the sole exception of unobjected-to comments which rise to the level of fundamental error). Clearly, the State's brief argument that Appellant cleaned up the blood stain in the upholstery is a permissible comment given the evidence introduced below. (V31, T:4365-66). Even if Appellant had objected to this argument, the objection would have been overruled as a fair comment on the evidence. Thus, because the prosecutor's argument was a proper argument based on the evidence introduced, the alleged error cannot be deemed fundamental. <u>See Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 411, 418 n.8 (Fla. 1988) (defining fundamental error as error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error"). Accordingly, this Court should deny the instant claim as set forth by Appellant.

⁴⁷In fact, defense counsel was the first person to mention this theory in her closing when she stated, "the State was also alluding to the fact and, I would venture to guess, will argue that the reason the seat cushion was degraded was because it was cleaned." (V31, T:4273).

ISSUE V

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE TESTIMONY OF A

DEFENSE EXPERT IN EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION.

Defense counsel proffered the testimony of Dr. John Brigham, an expert in factors affecting the reliability of eyewitness identification. (V28, T:3647-80). Dr. Brigham testified to numerous factors affecting the accuracy of eyewitness identifications. Specifically, he noted that (1) a witness' confidence or certainty in an identification is unrelated to the accuracy of their identification; (2) a show-up identification where only one photograph is shown is more suggestive than a line-up or photopack containing multiple individuals; (3) time lapses affect a witness' memory; and (4) stress affects a person's memory. (V28, T:3651-61). When the State questioned Dr. Brigham, he testified that he essentially would be testifying to the same factors discussed by this Court in the case of McMullen v. State, 714 80, 2d 368 (Fla. 1998).[#] After hearing the proffer, the trial judge ruled that the expert's testimony was inadmissible.

The law is well established regarding this issue that the trial court's decision to deny or allow this type of expert testimony is a matter left to the trial judge's sound discretion. <u>McMullen</u>, 714 So. 2d at 372-73 (stating that the trial court was in a far superior position to that of an appellate court to consider whether the testimony would have aided the jury in reaching its decision); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1983) (stating that a trial court has wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence and the range of subjects about which an expert can testify).

The instant issue is very similar to the situation presented to this Court in <u>McMullen</u>.[®] In that case, this Court followed its earlier decision in <u>Johnson</u>, and found that the lower court did not abuse its discretion in finding Dr. Brigham's expert testimony inadmissible. In the instant case, the trial judge was well aware of this Court's <u>McMullen</u> decision and considered it when making his ruling. The lower court also was aware of

⁴⁸As will be discussed in more detail infra, this Court in McMullen upheld the trial court's denial of Dr. Brigham's testimony in a case solely involving eyewitness testimony.

⁴⁹The significant difference between McMullen and the instant case is McMullen was based entirely on eyewitness testimony whereas in this case, there was far more evidence linking Appellant to the crime including DNA evidence, tire track impressions, false statements to law enforcement officers, and a confession.

Justice Anstead's concerns expressed in his concurring in part and dissenting in part opinion in <u>McMullen</u>. Justice Anstead expressed concern that lower courts would read <u>Johnson</u> and <u>McMullen</u> as a per se rule prohibiting this type of expert testimony and urged lower court's to consider Florida Statutes, section 90.702 "helpfulness" standard. <u>See McMullen</u>, 714 So. 2d at 380-81 (Anstead, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) ("In considering a proffer of such evidence the trial court should be aware that it has the discretion to admit the evidence. It should be careful in assessing the qualifications of the expert presented as well as in making an evaluation of the helpfulness of the proffered testimony compared to the risk that it may cause juror confusion.").

Contrary to Appellant's assertions in his brief, the eyewitnesses in this case did not change their testimony drastically. In fact, the eyewitnesses' statements immediately after the event were entirely consistent with their trial testimony. Although Dr. Brigham could have offered general observations regarding factors affecting some eyewitnesses' identifications, his testimony would not have assisted the jury in the instant case because he could not give specifics about the witnesses involved in this case. As this Court held in <u>McMullen</u>, 660 So. 2d at 341, "a jury is fully capable of assessing a witness' ability to perceive and remember, given the assistance of cross-examination and cautionary instructions, without the aid of expert testimony." Because the trial judge acted within his sound discretion in denying Dr. Brigham's testimony, this Court should affirm his ruling.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE'S ENTOMOLOGY

EXPERT TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT IN THE LIFE CYCLES OF FLIES.

Appellant argues that the lower court erred in allowing Dr. Jerry Hogsette to testify as an expert entomologist in the life cycle of flies. Defense counsel objected to the witness testifying as an expert in forensic entomology, but the trial judge informed the jury that the witness was qualified as an expert in entomology and in the life cycle of flies. (V20, T:2079-95). Based on his examination of larvae found on the victim and factoring in other circumstances regarding the temperature of the surroundings, Dr. Hogsette opined that the victim had been killed between midnight on Saturday, December 1, 2001, and early

Sunday morning, December 2, 2001. (V20, T:2106-15).

Florida Statutes, section 90.702 defines an expert as a person who is qualified in a subject matter "by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education." § 90.702, Fla. Stat. (2002). This Court has stated that the determination of a witness's qualifications to express an expert opinion is peculiarly within the discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed absent a clear showing of error. <u>Ramirez v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 352, 355 (Fla. 1989). Appellant has failed to show an abuse of the court's discretion in allowing Dr. Hogsette to testify regarding his opinion.

Appellant argues in his brief that Dr. Hogsette had "never worked in forensic entomology," and was "wholly unfamiliar with the matters concerning a murder victim which must be taken into account in the collection and analysis of insect evidence." Initial Brief of Appellant at 50. This is clearly an inaccurate statement of the witness' qualifications and experience as it relates to the issue in the case at bar. Dr. Hogsette testified regarding his vast experience in entomology and the study of the life cycles of flies. (V20, T:2079-95). Although the expert had never testified as a "forensic entomologist," he had testified in court before as an expert in entomology and in the life cycles of flies, and had been involved in murder cases. Furthermore, as Dr. Hogsette noted, for the purposes of his testimony regarding the life cycle of flies, it was really not important whether the flies were feeding on a deceased human or some other medium. Based on his qualifications, the trial judge found that he was "qualified as an expert in entomology and in the life cycle of flies." (V20, T:2095). Appellant has shown no abuse of discretion in this regard.

Appellant also asserts that "Dr. Hogsette was questioned about the decomposition of the body, an area which he had absolutely no training or experience." Initial Brief of Appellant at 50. Although the doctor was not trained in the decomposition of the human body, he clearly had experience in this area regarding livestock and other animals. When questioned by the State about the lag time it takes for flies to become attracted to a body, the witness began to answer the question by stating that the body starts to decompose, but was interrupted by an objection from defense counsel. (V20, T:2099-100). The trial court overruled the objection and the State rephrased its question to the generic term of "medium," as opposed to "body."

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